IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT PEREZ,

vs.

Petitioner,

SID J. WHITE FEB 18 19951 CLERK S 8y Chief Deputy Clerk

FILED

Case No. 84,960

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BRAD PERMAR ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 473014

Public Defender's Office Pinellas County Courthouse 5100 144th Avenue North Clearwater, FL 34620 (813) 464-6595

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 21, 1994, the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the conviction of Petitioner Robert Perez, for aggravated stalking under Florida Statute 784.048. However, taking note of the Petitioner's "constitutionality" challenge, the Second District certified this guestion of great public importance:

IS SECTION 784.048, FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1992), FACIALLY UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS VAGUE AND OVERBROAD?

The Petitioner served a timely Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction on January 5, 1995, and on January 11, 1995, this Honorable Court entered an order postponing a decision on jurisdiction and ordering the service of briefs on the merits.

* * * * *

On August 26, 1992, the state charged the Petitioner, Robert Perez, with aggravated stalking under §784.048, Florida Statutes. (R4) The offense allegedly occurred between July 1 and July 31, 1992. (R4) On May 21, 1993, Mr. Perez' attorney filed a motion to dismiss and to declare §784.048 unconstitutional, and on August 4, 1993, the prosecution filed a memorandum of law opposing the motion to dismiss. (R28-50)

On August 20, 1993, the Honorable Stanley Mills, Circuit Judge, conducted a hearing on the motion to dismiss, at the end of which he denied the motion. (R56-7,69) On October 27, 1993, Mr. Perez entered a plea of no contest to the charge, and was sentenced to twenty-four months prison. (R58-66) Mr. Perez filed a timely notice of appeal on November 17, 1993. (R67)

* * * * *

Mr. Perez was represented by Assistant Public Defender Robin L. Kester, Esquire, while the State of Florida was represented by Assistant State Attorney Robert Perry. (R69)

The motion to dismiss said §784.048 was unlawfully vague because the terms "repeatedly," "harasses," "course of conduct," "legitimate purpose," "substantial emotional distress," "series of acts," and "evidencing a continuity of purpose" were insufficiently defined. The motion cited a similar case-analysis (under the "hate crime" statute) in <u>Richards v. State</u>, 608 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). (R28-30) Accordingly, the defense moved to dismiss the Information against Mr. Perez. (R30-32)

In its memorandum opposing the motion the prosecution said, among other things, that to a person of common intelligence, "repeated is to do again," or in the alternative, that the word *repeated* means "more than one time." (R34-6)

Judge Mills conducted a hearing on the motion on August 20, 1993. (R69) The defense began by conceding that the Legislature had a "legitimate purpose" in creating a stalking law, but said the statute was defective as written. (R70-1) The defense gave Judge Mills copies of several county-court cases in which the statute was struck down, then went on to say the statute as worded gave police officers "unbridled discretion" to determine, at the scene and on a case-by-case basis, the "applied" meaning of subjective terms such as "emotional distress" and "legitimate purpose." (R71-5)

Judge Mills and defense counsel discussed a "hypothetical."

In that hypothetical case, a man at a party approached a woman and asked her to dance, but was rebuffed, and thereafter said - "a number of times" - at that dance, "I'm going to kill you if you don't dance with me." (R75-80) Judge Mills said that, to him, such conduct could be aggravated stalking. (R80)

He then recited an example in which he "beat the snot out of" a dog he once owned. He said he was trying to break the dog of the habit of running out into the street. (R80-5) Judge Mills said his dog, a Labrador Retriever, had such a thick layer of fat that the blows probably didn't hurt him, and that after the beating he - the dog - never ran out in the street again. (R85) But, Judge Mills said, his neighbor came out and was "absolutely horrified." He then added that the neighbor "thought to save the dog's life. I thought I was trying to save the dog's life too. One man's trash is another man's treasure." (R85)

Thereafter the prosecutor repeated his assertion that, to a majority of prosecutors, "repeated could mean twice," and Judge Mills denied the motion. (R86-90)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The stalking statute as now worded is unconstitutionally vague. "Ordinary people" may *think* they know the type of conduct targetted, but the present wording vests far too much discretion in police officers called on to make arrests under the statute.

That is, an officer "at the scene" must now make subjective judgments that would try the expertise of accomplished jurists, such as whether a particular person's acts are "constitutionally protected" or, in the alternative, whether the conduct in question "serves no legitimate purpose." Then too, the officer at the scene may be called on to determine - without guidance from the Legislature - whether the particular "victim" is either too sensitive or perhaps too subject to a personal "agenda."

To cite one word - "repeatedly" - is to show how vague the statute is. To the prosecutor below, for example, "repeatedly" could be as few as two acts of misconduct, but the word "several" is defined specifically as encompassing more than two. Despite the fact that most "ordinary people" would define repeatedly as at least more than several, the prosecutor's *liberal* interpretation of the word would have the force of law - at least in terms of arrest and preliminary detention - even though it is at odds with the definition presumed by "ordinary citizens." Thus, this one word cannot be understood the same way throughout the state.

Because the statute can and will be applied in an arbitrary, discriminatory and widely-divergent manner throughout Florida, it is unconstitutional on its face.

ARGUMENT

JUDGE MILLS ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO DISMISS.

When the stalking-statute is properly and strictly construed under the criterion of "fair warning," there can be no doubt it was and is facially and unconstitutionally void for vagueness:

> The modern reason for the rule of strict construction is said to be that criminals should be given fair warning, before they engage in a course of conduct, as to what conduct is punishable and how severe the punishment is. [A] fair warning should be given to the world in language that the common world will understand, of what the law intends to do if a certain line is passed.

LaFave and Scott, <u>Handbook on Criminal Law</u>, Hornbook Series, 1972, page 72, emphasis added.

On this issue, the analysis in <u>State v. Caraway</u>, 1 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 407 (Fla. Hernando County Ct. 1993), is compelling. By that analysis, Mr. Perez' motion to dismiss should be granted.

That is, under the current "stalking" statute, the line which must be passed is so vague that lawful conduct in one situation and by one citizen could be seen in a different way, in another situation, by another officer - male or female - subject to varying degrees of pressure to be "politically correct." Accordingly, that second citizen - conducting himself the same way as the first, but in a different location, on a different day, or confronted by different officers - could find himself arrested, convicted, and deprived of liberty and property, even if "only" for a few hours.

In construing a criminal statute challenged as "vague," any

doubts must be resolved in favor of the citizen and against the state. See, <u>Lamont v. State</u>, 610 So. 2d 435 (Fla. 1992), and also §775.021, Florida Statutes (1993). To avoid unconstitutional vagueness, the Legislature must provide reasonably clear guidelines in the statute. These guidelines serve both police officers who may arrest and juries which may convict under that statute. This is because both entities are given the power - "by law" - to deprive an individual citizen of *his* right to both liberty and due process of law.

That is, under state and federal constitutions, neither a police officer nor a jury may have the leeway to apply the statute in an arbitrary or discriminatory fashion; if there *is* such "leeway," the statute is unconstitutional. See, <u>Smith v. Goguen</u>, 415 U. S. 566, 94 S. Ct. 1342 (1974). Put another way, neither a police officer, prosecutor nor jurors may be free to "pursue their personal predilictions." See, <u>Kolender v. Lawson</u>, 461 U. S. 352, 103 S. Ct. 1855 (1983).

By its own definition, §784.048 cannot be used to infringe constitutionally-protected activity such as the rights of free speech, privacy, and "travel.¹" But that same statute is unconstitutionally vague because it permits the "arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement" against activities that are *not* constitutionally protected. (Then again, as will be seen, §784.048 requires officers at the scene to make such "constitutional" decisions that would try the expertise of learned jurists.)

See, §784.048(1)(b).

That is, the statute ostensibly requires "substantial emotional distress" on the part of the victim, and that the conduct of the accused "serves no legitimate purpose,²" though without further definition. These statutory terms permit (if not require) an officer at the scene of a complaint to make highly subjective judgments. Such "judgments" may evolve around whether the victim, usually a woman, is emotionally distressed *substantially* - rather than somewhat less than substantially³ - or whether the conduct of the accused, usually a man, "serves no legitimate purpose."

Generally speaking, male police officers can be expected to be more likely to see that the conduct of a fellow male serves some legitimate purpose, perhaps because he has been in the position of the accused some time in his life. On the other hand, female officers can be expected to take more of a "hard line," again according to the vagaries and variances of personal and perhaps bitter experience. As a current song asks, "What part of no don't you understand?" And so, to many female police officers, any "offensive" conduct after that first "no" could be deemed to serve "no legitimate purpose."

On the other hand, there will be the fear-of-being-brandedbiased-because-of-my-sex factor. According to this factor, some "sensitive" male officers will fear being gender-biased, and so will be more prone to arrest under the statute than some female

² §784.048(1)(a).

³ And if so, how *much* less than substantially will suffice, under the law, to spell the difference between freedom on the one hand, and arrest and incarceration on the other?

officers, while some sensitive female police officers, fearing they will be seen as gender-biased, will be more prone *not* to arrest than the "typical" male officer.

The bottom line is that the statute as presently worded (*ideally*) requires different police officers - male and female, urban and rural, liberal or conservative - to make such highly subjective value judgments "at the scene," and yet all arrive at the same or similar decision to arrest or not to arrest. Again *ideally*, an accused in an urban county, confronted by a "liberal" and dedicated-feminist police officer, should be subject to the same likelihood of arrest as an accused in a rural county, confronted by a member of an all-male, highly conservative police force. Under the statute as worded, that "ideal" cannot be met.

Among other things, it is not only the police officer's gender that will impact on the decision "at the scene." There is also the degree of "political correctness" - mandated by a particular police department - that will also impact on these already-subjective judgments. And since the degrees of "political correctness" will vary widely throughout the state Florida, the number of arrests under the statute will vary just as widely.

Again (generally speaking) a woman officer would be expected to find substantial-emotional-distress and no-legitimate-purpose more often than a male officer. But *also*, in a highly urban setting - where departmental "political correctness" is desired if not mandated - such findings of "distress" will generally be made far more often than in a rural setting or county.

That is, in a rural county there are generally fewer organized "pressure groups" who will demand "greater protection," which in turn will be translated, per statute, into a demand for more arrests. Then too, in a rural setting there will generally be a greater likelihood of an all-male police force. Thus, the statute could - and no doubt will - be enforced far differently in rural counties than in urban counties.

Again, within Florida's urban counties there will likely be more of a premium on "political correctness" and "political sensitivity" than in rural counties. Accordingly - without more definitive statutory guidelines - there will be extreme variations in enforcement in those *urban* counties as well, depending on a particular officer's "political sensitivity," gender, and/or the degree of "backlash" to the very idea of political-correctness.

For example, a more politically-sensitive male officer, fearing he might be perceived as *insensitive*, would in case of doubt (as to the victim's "distress," or other criteria) resolve those doubts in favor of arrest. This male officer - perhaps politically sensitive for reasons related to promotion and higher pay - would "resolve his doubts" not because the accused is guilty, but rather to avoid being characterized, by his peers or by his supervisors, as "politically insensitive." And again, such a characterization by his superiors might well result in demotion or career stagnation.

In other words, in Florida's urban counties, the degree of political sensitivity might well impact an officer's ability to

rise in both rank and in pay. But in rural counties, an excess of zeal in enforcing the statute could subject the officer to opprobium and ridicule. Thus even more factors - unrelated to "actual guilt" - will affect an individual officer's subjective judgment as to both the alleged victim's "emotional distress" and the alleged culprit's "legitimate purpose."

On the other hand, a *less*-sensitive male officer, in that same urban setting, or a male officer who personally and vehemently disagrees with the whole concept of "political correctness" in the first instance, would resolve such doubts in favor of *not* arresting the accused person; again, usually a man. Thus, in the same urban setting and with the same demands "from above" for political sensitivity, one male officer might arrest an accused, while in that same situation and with the same "accused," another male officer, with different attitudes about "political correctness," would *not* make the arrest.

On the "other" other hand, some female officers might follow "political correctness" to resolve doubts in favor of arrest, while other female police officers - fearing they might be seen as inherently biased because of their gender - would resolve their doubts in favor of *not* arresting a male suspect, much as the politically-insensitive male officer might do.

Thus, depending on only these three factors,⁴ there will be

⁴ That is, (1) rural-and-less-politically-correct versus urban-and-more-politically-correct counties and settings, (2) the gender of the police officer "at the scene," and (3) the degree of "political sensitivity" of the officer, as affected by the degree of "backlash" or fear-of-accusation-of-bias that the officer - male

wide variations in the way the statute will be enforced.

In light of the foregoing, arrests under this statute will depend not so much on guilt as much as on the scene-officer's gender, the degree of "political sensitivity" demanded by his or her department, and the existence or degree of "backlash" to that pressure by the individual officer, male or female. In short, the lack of guidance from the Legislature as to the terms "substantial emotional distress" and "serves no legitimate purpose" will foster arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement by both the officer and, in due course, the jury.

To avoid such varied enforcement and the attendant *likelihood* of arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement, the Legislature - when delegating part of its "police power" to an executive agent - may do so only *if* it "announces adequate standards to guide the agency in the execution of the powers delegated." <u>Dickinson v. State</u>, 227 So. 2d 36, 37 (Fla. 1969):

[W] hen statutes delegate power with inadequate protection against unfairness or favoritism, and when such protection could easily have been provided, the reviewing court should invalidate the legislation. In other words, the legislative exercise of the police power should be so clearly defined, so limited in scope, that nothing is left to the unbridled discretion or whim of the administrative agency charged with the responsibility of enforcing the act.

See also, <u>Delta Truck Brokers v. King</u>, 142 So. 2d 273 (Fla. 1972): "It is essential that the act which delegates the power ... defines with reasonable certainty the standards which shall guide

or female - might fear, either personally or professionally.

the agency in the exercise of its power."

Particularly in this day and time, "political correctness" is advanced vehemently by some, while it is challenged and resisted with equal vehemence by others. In light of the foregoing, it is patently unfair - as well as unconstitutional - to require police officers, juries, and citizens themselves, to have such emotionally-charged and subjective decisions left to those individuals - jurors and police officers - without any guidance from the Legislature whatsoever. See, e.g., <u>Delta Truck</u>: "it is obvious that the legislative delegation of power ... is totally devoid of any standards whatsoever." 142 So. 2d, at 275.

This is especially true because the statute affects constitutional freedoms even though it tries not to. That is, individual citizens ostensibly have the constitutional right to "associate" with whom they will,⁵ and the statute itself ostensibly tries to protect such "constitutionally protected activity."⁶ But by necessity, an officer at the scene will have to make the subjective judgment of whether the accused's conduct either "serves no legitimate purpose" or, on the other hand, is some kind of constitutionally-protected activity such as "association."

Again, on a case-by-case basis the officer on the scene will be called on to make subjective judgments that would try the abilities of learned and experienced jurists. In further words, to

⁵ <u>Sawyer v. Sandstrom</u>, 615 F. 2d 311, 316-18 (5th Cir. 1980).

⁶ §784.048(1)(b).

make such subjective judgments (in a non-arbitrary and nondiscriminatory way throughout the state of Florida), the individual officer must both become learned in the vagaries of "constitutionally protected activities," and respond without bias and prejudgment caused by: 1) that officer's gender, 2) his or her department's "demand" for political sensitivity, and 3) the officer's desire to avoid being "branded" as either politically insensitive or gender-biased.

As noted, the constitutional freedom of association is not limited to those associations which are "political in the customary sense;" this right also relates to those associations which provide a "social, legal, and economic benefit" as well. <u>Sawyer v.</u> <u>Sandstrom</u>, 615 F. 2d 311, 316 (5th Cir. 1980), emphasis added:

> "The rights of locomotion, freedom of movement, to go where one pleases, and to use the public streets in a way that does not interfere with the personal liberty of others" are implicit in the first and fourteenth amendments.

The Respondent will probably hasten to say that the stalkingstatute is *aimed* at men who "interfere with the personal liberty of others," usually women and their families, but that is precisely the point. As Judge Mills himself pointed out, "One man's trash is another man's treasure." (R85)

That is, what might be unconstitutional "interference" to a woman that Rush Limbaugh would call a "femi-nazi," could well be simply a flattering display of "old-fashioned" or "courtly" love to a more traditional, conservative and generally Republican woman such as Phyllis Schafly. Again, not only will an individual police officer - and jury - be called on to make the value judgments already mentioned, they will also have to take into account the alleged victim's political and social sensibilities. Again, what would be "harassment" to a liberal feminist could be flattering to an "old-fashioned" woman.

At any rate, a statute may not - under the First and Fourteenth Amendments - criminalize associational or "rights of assembly" simply because one person's exercise of such rights "may be 'annoying' to some people." <u>Sawyer</u>, 615 F. 2d, at 316.

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