FILE D
SIDJ. WHITE
FEB 23 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

Ву_

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 84,960

ROBERT PEREZ,

Petitioner,

-vs- .

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Fax No. (305) 377-5655

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0239437
Office of the Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921
Post Office Box 013241
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441

PARKER D. THOMSON Special Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 081225

CAROL A. LICKO

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 784.048 in its entirety, Florida's Stalking Statute (the "Statute"), and Section 784.048(3) thereof, specifically, are constitutional. This statute is constitutional, and totally complies with the First or Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. It is neither overbroad nor vague.

The Statute proscribes stalking and harassing generally. Stalking and harassing are forms of conduct, regardless of whether the conduct may, in part, be evidenced through speech. As such, the proscribed conduct in the Statute is not susceptible to a First Amendment overbreadth challenge. Operation Rescue v. Women's Health Center, 626 So. 2d 664 (Fla. 1993), aff'd in part and rev'd in part, sub nom; Madsen v. Women's Health Ctr., 512 U.S. ____, 114 S.Ct. 2516, 129 L.Ed.2d 593 (1994); State v. Stalder, 630 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1994); Wisconsin v. Mitchell, 508 U.S. ____, 113 S.Ct. 2194, 124 L.Ed.2d 436 (1993). Furthermore, the Statute, judged in relation to legitimate sweep, is not overbroad. Pallas v. State, 636 So. 2d 1358 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994).

Furthermore the Statute is not subject to a vagueness challenge. No portion of the Statute is "vague" to the degree required to violate the First or Fourteenth Amendments. Rather, the statutory provisions provide explicit guidelines for determining which conduct is proscribed.

In all, Petitioner's arguments have all been considered and disposed of by the decisions of the Fourth District in <u>Kahles</u> the Third District in <u>Pallas</u>. The Stalking Statute is facially constitutional.

ARGUMENT

SECTION 784.048, FLA. STAT. (1992) IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY OVERBROAD AND/OR VAGUE.

INTRODUCTION

This case addresses the strict issue of whether Section 784.048(3) of the Florida Statutes is constitutional as it applies to the actions of Petitioner. Petitioner has also made a broad facial challenge to Section 784.048, Fla. Stat. (1992) in its entirety. The Petitioner's challenge to the Statute is based on asserted overbreadth and vagueness.

Petitioner was charged with violating Section 784.048(3) of the Statute, stalking with a credible threat to do bodily injury or cause death. Since there is no First Amendment protection for malicious conduct, Petitioner's overbreadth challenge must be rejected out of hand. His vagueness claim can only relate to that portion of the Statute that affects him. Parker v. Levy, 47 U.S. 733, 757, 94 S. Ct. 2547, 41 L.Ed.2d 439 (1974).

Nevertheless, the State will address additional aspects of the Statute beyond Section 784.048(3) should this Court, in the interest of judicial economy, wish to review the entire Statute in one case.

Sections (2), (3) and (4) of the Statute prohibit the same conduct, to wit: willfully, maliciously and repeatedly following

or harassing another person. Section (2) is a misdemeanor of the first degree since that Section only prohibits the willful, malicious and repeated following or harassing of another.

Section (3) of the Statute elevates such conduct to the third degree felony of aggravated stalking when the willful, malicious and repeated following or harassing conduct is accompanied by a credible threat with the intent to place that person in reasonable fear of death or bodily injury. The credible threat" placing a person in "reasonable fear" parallels the "well founded fear in other persons" element in the crimes of assault, aggravated assault and robbery. See \$\$784.011, 784.021 and 812.13 Fla. Stat. (1991).

Section (4) likewise elevates willful, malicious and repeated following or harassing to the third degree felony of aggravated stalking when the following or harassing conduct is in knowing violation of a previous court order prohibiting such conduct.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Statute's opponent must establish that the Statute is invalid beyond, and to the exclusion of, every reasonable doubt.

See Bunnel v. State, 453 So. 2d 508 (Fla. 1984); State v.

Kinner, 398 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 1981). See also New York State Club

Assn., Inc. v. City of New York, 487 U.S. 1, 108 S.Ct. 2225, 101

L.Ed.2d 1 (1988). (Burden of showing statute to be unconstitutional is on the one challenging it, not the one defending it).

In State v. Kahles, 644 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), the Court reiterated the proper analytical framework, as established in Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc., 455 U.S. 489, 494, 102 S.Ct. 1186, 71 L.Ed. 362 (1982) to be utilized when a criminal statute is alleged to be facially unconstitutional for overbreadth and vagueness. This proper analytic framework is for the court to first determine whether the enactment reaches a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct. If not, the overbreadth challenge must fail. Secondly, the court should examine the vagueness challenge and, if there is no constitutionally protected conduct, should uphold the challenge only if the enactment is impermissibly vague in all of its applications. ² Kahles, supra.

In a facial challenge to the overbreadth and vagueness of a law, a court's first task is to determine whether the enactment reaches a substantial amount of constitutionally protected If it does not, then the overbreadth challenge must The court should then examine the facial vagueness conduct. implicates and, assuming the enactment challenge constitutionally protected conduct, should uphold the challenge only if the enactment is impermissibly vague in all of its applications. A plaintiff who engages in some conduct that isclearly proscribed cannot complain of the vagueness of the law as applied to the conduct of others. A court should therefore examine the complainant's conduct before analyzing other hypothetical applications of the law. Kahles, 644 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (footnotes omitted).

THE STATUTE IS NOT OVERBROAD

Overbreadth is a doctrine limited to statutes involving restrictions on First Amendment rights. If a statute does not contravene the First Amendment, then an overbreadth challenge fails. In a facial challenge to the overbreadth of a law, the Court's first task is to determine whether the enactment reaches a substantial amount of constitutionally protected speech. If it does not, then the overbreadth challenge must fail. State v. Kahles, supra; Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside Hoffman Estates, supra.

This case involves harassment constituting threats to kill. This Court held that it is constitutionally permissible to regulate the "violent or harassing nature of Operation Rescue's expressive activity." Operation Rescue v. Women's Health Center, 626 So. 2d 664, 671 (Fla. 1993), aff'd in part and rev'd in part, sub nom Madsen v. Women's Health Ctr., 512 U.S. ____, 114 S.Ct. 2516, 129 L.Ed.2d 593 (1994). Additionally, the United States Supreme Court upheld this Court's holding which restricted picketing around the clinic against a First Amendment challenge when it "threatens" the psychological and physical well-being of the victim. Id. The United States Supreme Court specifically held that, "[c]learly, threats to patients or their families, communicated, are proscribable however under the First Amendment." 129 L.Ed.2d at 612. (emphasis added). therefore, are not protected speech under the First Amendment.

Likewise, a violation of the domestic violence injunction is not protected speech.

The Statute generally deals with stalking and harassing. Stalking, in the normal sense of the word, is pure conduct. Harassing may well include a speech component. This is irrelevant here where we are dealing with a threat of death. But harassing in general is conduct which may, in part, be articulated by speech. This speech survives any overbreadth challenge, nevertheless, as the Statute regulates only words used as a method to harass which, of itself, is conduct, even when mixed with speech.

Pallas v. State, 636 So. 2d 1358 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), clearly articulated the correct rule. The Third District there upheld the constitutionality of the Statute against both an overbreadth and a vagueness challenge. The Third District rejected the overbreadth challenge to the Statute, even where the method by which the defendant harassed the victim was in a series of harassing telephone calls made by defendant. The Court held that the Statute survives an overbreadth challenge since the Statute does not proscribe conduct unless: 1) the conduct is willful, malicious, and repeated; 2) there must be a course of conduct which would cause substantial emotional distress to a reasonable person in the position of the victim; and 3) the conduct must serve no legitimate purpose. Id. at 1363. For aggravated

stalking, there must also be a credible threat made with the intent to place the victim in reasonable fear of death or bodily injury, or, as in this case, the violation of a domestic violence injunction.

That this conduct may be effected in part through speech does not invalidate the Statute on freedom of speech grounds where the use of words as the method with which to harass The controlling involves conduct mixed with speech. constitutional considerations differ substantially from those applied to pure speech. Pallas, 636 So. 2d 1363 (citing the decision of this Court in State v. Elders, 382 So. 2d 687, 690 (Fla. 1980)). The applicable test that applies when conduct and not merely speech is involved is that the overbreadth must not only be real, but substantial as well, judged in relation to the statute's legitimate sweep. Id. The Third District in Pallas concluded that the overbreadth challenge was not real and substantial judged in relation to the Statute's legitimate sweep. The State submits that the Pallas court correctly dealt with an overbreadth challenge to the Statute.

In a related line of cases, this Court upheld Section 785.085(1), Florida Statutes (1989), commonly referred to as Florida's Hate Crimes Statute. In so doing this Court followed the United States Supreme Court's holding as to the Wisconsin Hate Crimes Statute in Wisconsin v. Mitchell, 508 U.S. ____, 113

S.Ct. 2194, 124 L.Ed.2d 436 (1993). This Court held the Florida Hate Crimes Statute does not violate the First Amendment because the statute punishes bias-motivated criminal conduct rather than the expression of ideas. State v. Stalder, 630 So. 2d 1072, 1075 (Fla. 1994). This Court held that the Hate Crimes Statute punishes the conduct that evidences the prejudice, even when speech is a primary component of the conduct. The Stalder analysis, a fortiorari, applies to the Statute since hate crimes almost invariably involve a speech component, while often stalking through harassing has no such speech component.

In summary, the Statute is not overbroad. Stalking, whether by word or deed, done with the requisite specific intent to cause harm or threat to the victim is not protected by the First Amendment. The Stalking Statute regulates the conduct that causes threat or harm, not the content of a message that may accompany it. Lastly, the Statute by its terms ("course of conduct") excludes constitutionally protected activity. This type of exclusion has saved statutes from overbreadth challenges.

See, e.g., Arnett v. Kennedy, 416 U.S. 134, 162, 94 S.Ct. 1633, 40 L.Ed.2d 15 (1974). In this case, the exclusion is unnecessary to protect against the overbreadth challenge.

THE STATUTE IS NOT VAGUE

Petitioner's vagueness claim can only relate to that portion of the Statute that affects him. Parker v. Levy, 47 U.S. at 757.

But in any case, no portion of this Statute is "vague" in the sense of violating the First or Fourteenth Amendments. In order to succeed on a vagueness challenge, Petitioner must demonstrate that the law is impermissibly vague in all of its applications. Village of Hoffman Estates, supra. However, perfection of language is not the rule, rather whether it violates constitutional mandates. Kahles, supra; Pallas, supra; Stalder, supra.

Petitioner challenges a number of terms of the Statute as "vague". These terms will be addressed in turn.

Knowingly

"Knowingly," in criminal law, means actual consciousness, or United States actually having knowledge of the facts at issue. v. United States Gypsum Co., 438 U.S. 422, 444-45, 98 S.Ct. 2864, 57 L.Ed.2d 854 (1978), United States v. Warren, 612 F.2d 887 (5th See also, Sec. 409.920(2)(c) Fla. Stat. (1993) Cir. 1980). ("Knowingly" means done by a person who is aware of, or should be aware of the nature of his conduct and that his conduct is cause the intended substantially certain to Accordingly, "knowingly" as applied in this case means that the defendant knew that the injunction had been issued and acted in contravention thereof.

Willfully

The United States Supreme Court defined the term "willful" as "when [willful is] used in a criminal statute it generally means an act done with a bad purpose." Screws v. United States, 395 U.S. 91, 101, 65 S.Ct. 1031, 89 L.Ed.2d 1495 (1985) (upholding the vagueness challenge to 18 U.S.C. 52). The Court stated further that willfulness requires more "than the doing of an act proscribed by statute" and that "[a]n evil motive to accomplish that which the statute condemns becomes a constituent element of the crime." Id. As to vagueness the Court held:

...the requirement of a specific intent to do a prohibited act may avoid those consequences to the accused which may otherwise render a vague or indefinite statute invalid...But where the punishment imposed is only for an act knowingly done with the purpose of doing that which the statute prohibits, the accused cannot be said to suffer from lack of warning or knowledge that the act which he does is a violation of law. The requirement that the act must be willful or purposeful may not render certain, for all purposes, a statutory definition of the crime which is in some respects uncertain. But it does relieve the statute of the objection that it punishes without warning an offense of which the accused was unaware.

<u>Id.</u> at 101-102.

Florida has defined "willful" similarly to the United States Supreme Court's definition. "Willful" means intentionally, knowingly and purposely. Paterson v. State, 512 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). The Statute contains the necessary scienter element, since in all sections it punishes only that perpetrator who willfully, maliciously and repeatedly follows or harasses

another person. A person of ordinary intelligence can understand that he will have violated a statute if he followed or harassed another intentionally and with a bad purpose. It is the perpetrator's mental state which is the measure of his criminality.

The Statute requires not only that the act be intentional and with a bad purpose (maliciously). It also has to be done repeatedly. Each of these terms adds limitations to the Statute, curing any vagueness as to what conduct is prohibited. This position was adopted in <u>State v. Sanders</u>, No. S-94-0177 (Okla. Crim. Nov. 29, 1994) citing with approval to <u>Pallas v. State</u>, supra. (Attachaed as Exhibit A).

Maliciously

"Maliciously" is a term well-defined in criminal law. It isdefined as "wrongfully, intentionally, without legal justification or excuse, and with the knowledge that injury or damage will or may be caused to another person or the property of another person." Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) 130, 109. See also, State v. Gaylord, 356 So. 2d 313 (Fla 1978) ("maliciously" means ill will, hatred, spite, an evil intent). The term maliciously, in combination, with the term "willful", clearly requires the perpetrator's conduct to be done intentionally, with an evil purpose and without legal justification. The terms "willfully" and "maliciously" are legal terms defined in familiar

legal terms. Bradley v. United States, 410 U.S. 605, 93 S.Ct. 1151, 35 L.Ed.2d 528 (1973). As such, these terms delineate what conduct is proscribed.

Repeatedly

The plain and ordinary meaning of "repeatedly" can be determined by referring to a dictionary. Green v. State, 604 So. 2d 471 (Fla. 1992). "Repeated" means: "1: renewed or recurring again and again: constant, frequent." Webster's Third New International Dictionary; 1924 (1986 Ed.). Applying this definition to the term "repeatedly" further clarifies the proscribed conduct in the Statute. The perpetrator must act intentionally with an evil purpose and such act must be more than an isolated incident.

Harasses

The Statute in Section (1)(a) defines "harasses" as follows:

(a) "Harasses" means to engage in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that causes substantial emotional distress in such person and serves no legitimate purpose.

Petitioner challenges this statutory definition on the individual terms and not on the whole statutory definition. Petitioner alleges that the terms "substantial emotional distress" and "no legitimate purpose" are not sufficient to prevent arbitrary enforcement.

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